I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. The Circuit Court erred by permitting Respondent's wrongful discharge and Tort of Outrage claims to be presented and argued to the jury, resulting in unfair prejudice against Petitioner, and denying Petitioner's post-trial motion for relief.

2. That Circuit Court erred by denying Petitioner's post-trial motion for relief after acknowledging the prejudicial effect of the jury instructions as to Respondent's Tort of Outrage claim.

3. Alternatively, the Circuit Court erred by denying Petitioner's post-trial motion for relief, as there was no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find for Respondent on his FMLA claim and the verdict was the product of plain and unfair prejudice.

4. Alternatively, the Circuit Court erred in awarding Respondent liquidated damages, interest, attorney fees and costs by not adequately considering the record and relevant factors under applicable law.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND BACKGROUND:

A. THE COMPLAINT AND UNDERLYING FACTS.

The instant action began and was presented to the jury cloaked as a claim for unlawful discriminatory and retaliatory discharge. The Complaint alleged six (6) claims: (1) Religious Discrimination in violation of the West Virginia Human Rights Act ("WVHRA"), (2) Discriminatory Discharge in violation of the FMLA, (3) Failure to Notify of FMLA Rights, (4) Tort of Outrage, (5) WVHRA Hostile Work Environment (Religion), and (6) WVHRA Retaliatory Discharge.

Petitioner Fairmont Tool is in the business of manufacturing, fabricating and machining metal products,¹ primarily to the oil and natural gas drilling industry.² Respondent Opyoke was hired by Fairmont Tool as a machinist at its Fairmont, Marion County, West Virginia, location in February of 2010.³ Respondent has lived with cancer since he was 21 years old

Respondent alleged that he was treated in a disparate manner based at least in part on his religion⁴ and subjected to a hostile work environment, all in violation of the WVHRA.⁵ In Count III of his Complaint (“Failure to Notify of FMLA Rights”), Respondent alleged that:

Shortly after being diagnosed with cancer, on our [sic] about July 15, 2015, Plaintiff Opyoke approached his employer Fairmont Tool to file for FMLA leave due to being diagnosed with a serious health condition.... On or about July 15, 2015, representatives of Defendant Fairmont Tool told Plaintiff Opyoke that they did not offer FMLA leave there.... Defendant Fairmont tool [sic] did not notify Plaintiff Opyoke of his eligibility to take FMLA leave after he requested it, and in doing so interfered with, restrained, and/or denied Mr. Opyoke the exercise of his lawful rights under the FMLA.

Respondent alleged that he “applied for FMLA leave on or about Thursday, July 15, 2015, as his chemotherapy was set to commence on that date.”⁶ Nevertheless, he alleged that he was called into work and laid off on July 20, 2015.⁷ As a result, Respondent asserted claims for discriminatory discharge in violation of the FMLA⁸ and retaliatory discharge for engaging in protected activities under both federal and state law.⁹ In Count IV of his verified Complaint (“Tort of Outrage”), Respondent asserted that,

¹ Appx.0016.
² Appx. Vol. II, p. 11.
³ Appx.0016; Appx. Vol. II, p. 227.
⁴ Appx.0018.
⁵ Appx.0021.
⁶ Appx.0021
⁷ Appx.0021.
⁸ Appx.0019.
⁹ Appx.0021-22.

The wrongful employment acts and/or omissions taken against Plaintiff Opyoke by Defendant Fairmont Tool were done in an outrageous manner and were so extreme as to be intolerable in a civilized society.... As a result of the outrageous, wrongful actions aforesaid, Plaintiff Opyoke suffered injuries, damages and losses as hereinafter set forth.

In addition to a prayer for compensatory and general damages, plus interest and attorney's fees,¹⁰ Respondent made a claim for punitive damages, labeling the alleged misconduct of Petitioner as "willful, wanton, and malicious and/or reckless."¹¹

During trial, Respondent testified that he had "battled" cancer most of his life.¹² He testified that while he was employed at Fairmont Tool, he was diagnosed with bladder cancer and had his kidney removed in 2012, taking about three months off.¹³ When he returned, Fairmont Tool moved Respondent over to a less rigorous position in the inspection department.¹⁴

Respondent testified that in April of 2015, he was told that he had about a six-month window to begin high dose chemotherapy.¹⁵ He was told he had between April to September to get started on his treatments.¹⁶ He testified that he first realized he would need time off during his April 2015 doctor visit.¹⁷ Respondent testified that his doctor scheduled his chemotherapy treatments and that he did not.¹⁸ He testified that after being informed by his doctor of the six (6) month treatment window, he requested FMLA from his immediate supervisor, Patrick L. Stevens and Christopher Moyers.¹⁹ Stevens testified that Respondent never requested FMLA,²⁰ and

¹⁰ Appx.0022.

¹¹ Appx.0023.

¹² Appx. Vol. II, p. 228.

¹³ Appx. Vol. II, p. 227-28.

¹⁴ Appx. Vol. II, p. 228-29.

¹⁵ Appx. Vol. II, p. 229.

¹⁶ Appx. Vol. II, p. 230.

¹⁷ Appx. Vol. II, p. 230.

¹⁸ Appx. Vol. II, pp. 247.

¹⁹ Appx. Vol. II, pp. 230-31.

²⁰ Appx. Vol. II, p. 308.

assuming that he did request FMLA, Stevens would have directed Respondent to Jamie L. Kelley, Fairmont Tool's human resources manager.²¹ Moyer testified that Respondent never requested FMLA,²² and assuming that he had requested FMLA, he would have directed Respondent to Ms. Kelley.²³ Respondent also testified that Tammy E. Hendricks, office manager, told him that Fairmont Tool did not offer FMLA.²⁴ Tammy E. Hendricks testified that Respondent never requested FMLA and that she did not him that Fairmont Tool did not offer FMLA.²⁵

Respondent testified that his body unexpectedly "crashed" at the beginning of July 2015 because of his cancer.²⁶ He testified that his doctor informed him that he needed to begin chemotherapy treatments immediately. Respondent testified that he dropped off a "Return to Work" slip to Jamie Kelley on July 13, 2015, with a handwritten note on it stating, "I need copy of Federal Medical Leave Act papers – Thanks Louis Chemo Starting Wed. 15th."²⁷ Ms. Kelley testified that after receiving the "Return to Work" slip from Respondent,²⁸ she explained to him that he was *eligible* for FMLA, but she requested additional information from Respondent because the "Return to Work" slip did not say how long he would need off or the frequency of the treatments.²⁹ Respondent testified he had a conversation with Ms. Kelley but could not recall the specifics.³⁰ Respondent admitted that the note did not explain how long he needed off or the frequency of treatments.³¹ Respondent testified that he took off July 15, 16 and 17, 2015, for a

²¹ Appx. Vol. II, p. 311.

²² Appx. Vol. II, p. 161.

²³ Appx. Vol. II, p. 161.

²⁴ Appx. Vol. II, p. 232-33.

²⁵ Appx. Vol. II, p. 314.

²⁶ Appx. Vol. II, p. 233.

²⁷ Appx. Vol. II, p. 234.

²⁸ Appx. Vol. II, p. 119.

²⁹ Appx. Vol. II, pp. 120-21, 127-28, 136-37.

³⁰ Appx. Vol. II, p. 252.

³¹ Appx. Vol. II, p. 250.

chemotherapy treatment but was unable to begin treatment because he had an infection.³²

Respondent testified he brought the FMLA paperwork to Fairmont Tool on July 20, 2015 and mailed a copy that day by certified mail.³³

Jamie Kelley testified that Respondent failed to respond to her inquiries to determine whether the leave was FMLA-qualifying prior to the Plaintiff being laid off.³⁴ The Plaintiff testified that he was laid off by Fairmont Tool on July 20, 2015.³⁵ Respondent testified that he would have started his chemotherapy treatments prior to July 15, 2015, but for the failure of Patrick L. Stevens, Christopher A. Moyer and Tammy E. Hendricks to notify him of his eligibility to take FMLA.³⁶ He further testified that was really distressed when he lost his insurance (after the layoff) and was unable to see a specialist his doctor recommended.³⁷ Respondent testified that he did not seek treatment from a medical doctor, psychiatrist, psychologist or therapist for his alleged emotional distress.³⁸ During his case-in-chief, Respondent did not call his doctor or any other witnesses to testify as to the alleged harm he suffered as a result of the failure of Patrick L. Stevens, Christopher A. Moyer and Tammy E. Hendricks to notify him of his eligibility to take FMLA.³⁹ Respondent did not present a rebuttal case.

B. THE UNDERLYING ACTION AND TRIAL.

³² Appx. Vol. II, pp. 237-38, 250.

³³ Appx. Vol. II, pp. 253-54.

³⁴ Appx. Vol. II, pp. 121-22, 124-25.

³⁵ Appx. Vol. II, p. 236.

³⁶ Appx. Vol. II, pp. 232-33.

³⁷ Appx. Vol. II, pp. 243-44.

³⁸ Appx. Vol. II, p. 259.

³⁹ Appx. Vol. II, p. 53.

On May 18, 2017, the Circuit Court heard Fairmont Tool's motion for summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure.⁴⁰ Petitioner moved for judgment as to all of the Respondent's six (6) claims.⁴¹ Relevant to this appeal, the Circuit Court denied the motion with regard to Respondent's FMLA interference, wrongful termination and Tort of Outrage claims. As noted below, Respondent withdrew the discrimination claims and, by the time Respondent's case was submitted to the jury, only the FMLA interference and Outrage claims remained.

With respect to the FMLA interference claim (Count III), Fairmont Tool argued that Respondent was laid off for business reasons unrelated to his FMLA leave request and, therefore, was not denied FMLA benefits to which he was entitled.⁴² Similarly, Fairmont Tool argued that it was entitled to judgment as a matter of law on Respondent's discriminatory and retaliatory discharge claims (Counts II and VI) because it was undisputed that the layoff decision was made for reasons unrelated to the alleged protected activity, i.e., a workforce reduction due to the downturn in the oil and gas industry.⁴³ Finally, Fairmont Tool argued that the legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for Respondent's layoff prevented a finding in his favor on the Tort of Outrage claim.⁴⁴ The Circuit Court initially took the motion under advisement,⁴⁵ ultimately denying the motion "[i]n light of the genuine disputes of material fact raised by each party" and

⁴⁰ Appx.0028-61; Appx. Vol. II., p.4.

⁴¹ Appx.0029-30; Appx. Vol. II, p.5.

⁴² Appx.0034-36; Appx. Vol. II, p.6.

⁴³ Appx.0036-46, 56-59; Appx. Vol. II, pp. 8-14, 28-29.

⁴⁴ Appx. Vol. II, p. 30.

⁴⁵ Appx. Vol. II, p. 48.

finding that “[t]he facts alleged by each party contradict one another and a fact finder should be permitted to assess the facts alleged and presented....”⁴⁶

On the first morning of trial, Respondent voluntarily dismissed his claims for Religious Discrimination and Hostile Work Environment just before evidence was presented.⁴⁷ Respondent presented five (5) witnesses: Jamie L. Kelley, Christopher A. Moyer, Nathan S. Kincaid, John Martin and himself.⁴⁸ At the close of Respondent’s case-in-chief, the Circuit Court granted judgment in favor of Fairmont Tool on the two (2) wrongful discharge claims pursuant to Rule 50 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure.⁴⁹ Fairmont Tool presented two (2) witnesses, rested, and renewed its motions for judgment as a matter of law, which were denied by the Circuit Court.⁵⁰

After the evidence was in, Fairmont Tool objected to the submission of the Tort of Outrage claim to the jury.⁵¹ Fairmont Tool argued that the submission of that common law claim would effectively permit Respondent to circumvent what the parties agreed was the FMLA’s prohibition on emotional damages for alleged violations of 29 U.S.C. § 2615(a)(1). Fairmont Tool further objected to the instruction on punitive damages that was tied to the Outrage claim.⁵²

The jury was instructed on the FMLA interference claim and that it could award Respondent damages on the Tort of Outrage claim if it found that he established that Fairmont Tool acted “with intent to inflict emotional distress or acted recklessly when it was certain or substantially certain that such distress would result from its conduct.”⁵³ The Circuit Court further

⁴⁶ Appx.0175-76.

⁴⁷ Appx.0185; Appx. Vol. II, pp. 62-63.

⁴⁸ Appx.0185.

⁴⁹ Appx. Vol. II, pp. 302-06.

⁵⁰ Appx. Vol. II, pp. 316-17.

⁵¹ Appx. Vol. II, pp. 322-24.

⁵² Appx. Vol. II, pp. 326-27.

⁵³ Appx. Vol. II, p. 347.

instructed the jury that it could find for Respondent on the Tort of Outrage if it found that his “severe emotional distress **resulted from his alleged wrongful termination**”⁵⁴ or the “manner in which he was discharged was extreme and outrageous.”⁵⁵ The instruction referred to “terminating plaintiff Opyoke.”⁵⁶ On the heels of that erroneous instruction, the jury was instructed that it could award additional general amounts for annoyance, inconvenience, embarrassment, humiliation, loss of dignity and emotional distress.⁵⁷ And, right after that, the jury was instructed as to the availability of punitive damages.⁵⁸

Respondent’s counsel then presented a closing that focused on alleged “intentional” conduct⁵⁹ and “emotional distress,” arguing the “law allows for compensation for Louie’s distress and what he went through emotionally.”⁶⁰ Then, Respondent’s counsel went through the verdict form and the elements of the FMLA interference claim.⁶¹

Having been so instructed, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Plaintiff on both counts. The jury awarded Respondent \$3,520.00 in lost wages and \$881.22 in past lost benefits in association with his FMLA claim (Count III).⁶² With respect to Respondent’s Outrage claim (Count IV), the jury further awarded Respondent \$50,000.00 for emotional distress, \$75,000.00 for annoyance, \$50,000 for inconvenience, and \$150,000.00.⁶³

The Circuit Court entered judgment on the jury’s verdict on August 16, 2017.⁶⁴

⁵⁴ Appx. Vol. II, p. 348.

⁵⁵ Appx. Vol. II, pp. 348-49.

⁵⁶ Appx. Vol. II, p. 349.

⁵⁷ Appx. Vol. II, p. 349.

⁵⁸ Appx. Vol. II, pp. 349-50.

⁵⁹ Appx. Vol. II, p. 355.

⁶⁰ Appx. Vol. II, pp. 355-56.

⁶¹ Appx. Vol. II, pp. 356-57.

⁶² Appx.0400.

⁶³ Appx.0401.

⁶⁴ Appx.0177.

C. THE POST-TRIAL MOTIONS PRACTICE.

On post-trial motions, the Circuit Court both increased and decreased the verdict amounts by several Orders all entered February 27, 2018. After a hearing on October 31, 2017,⁶⁵ the Circuit Court granted Fairmont Tool's unopposed Motion to Amend Judgment Order to reflect Respondent's dismissal of Counts I and V, as well as the Circuit Court's rulings on the Rule 50 motions made by Fairmont Tool during trial,⁶⁶ and entered an Amended Judgment Order reducing the jury's verdicts to judgment in the amount of \$329,401.22 in favor of Respondent.⁶⁷ The Circuit Court also entered an Order, granting, in part, and denying, in part, Fairmont Tool's Rule 50(b) Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law Or, In the Alternative, Motion for New Trial,⁶⁸ concluding, in part, that Fairmont Tool's argument that the court improperly instructed the jury on the claim of tort of outrage by linking the same to his alleged "wrongful termination" was "well taken[.]"⁶⁹ However, the Circuit Court found the improper instructions "one of harmless error" and did not necessitate judgment as a matter of law or granting of a new trial.⁷⁰

In the same order, the court found that, due to the lack of corroboration of emotional injury suffered by Respondent and the lack of evidence regarding treatment, the award of damages for emotional distress related to Tort of Outrage claim was essentially punitive damages, making the additional award of punitive damages a double recovery.⁷¹ The Circuit Court found Fairmont Tool entitled to judgment as a matter of law on the punitive damages claim and ordered that the "damage

⁶⁵ Appx. Vol. II, pp. 410-57.

⁶⁶ Appx.0198.

⁶⁷ Appx.0200.

⁶⁸ Appx.0183.

⁶⁹ Appx.0225.

⁷⁰ Appx.0225.

⁷¹ Appx.0226-28.

award shall be remitted by \$150,000.00.”⁷² However, the Circuit Court denied Fairmont Tool’s request for judgment as a matter of law or alternative new trial on the FMLA interference claim (Count III) or Tort of Outrage claim (Count IV).⁷³

By separate Order entered that date, the Circuit Court granted, in part, Respondent’s Motion For Prejudgment Interest, Liquidated Damages, Reasonable Attorney Fees, And Litigation Costs, awarding Respondent liquidated damages and prejudgment interest in the amount of \$5,633.56 (including interest at the rate of 7% per annum), as well as attorney’s fees in the amount of \$57,435.00 and costs in the amount of \$4,571.26.⁷⁴

On March 13, 2018, Fairmont Tool filed its Motion to Alter or Amend the Court’s Amended Judgment Order and Motion for a New Trial and Alternative Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law.⁷⁵ Respondent filed his response thereto⁷⁶ and the Circuit Court held a hearing on the motion,⁷⁷ followed by a letter ruling granting Fairmont Tool’s motion for new trial as to the Tort of Outrage (Count IV).⁷⁸ After Respondent filed an objection,⁷⁹ the Circuit Court’s rulings were memorialized by Order entered June 13, 2018.⁸⁰ In that Order, the Circuit Court found, based upon the erroneous references to “wrongful termination” acknowledged in its February 28, 2018 Order, “the Court’s instruction on the tort of Outrage was improper and prejudicial to the Defendant.”⁸¹ The Circuit Court further found that “the jury’s finding for Plaintiff on the tort of

⁷² Appx.0228.

⁷³ Appx.0228.

⁷⁴ Appx.0230.

⁷⁵ Appx.0238.

⁷⁶ Appx.0252.

⁷⁷ Appx. Vol. II, pp. 458-77.

⁷⁸ Appx.0259.

⁷⁹ Appx.0261.

⁸⁰ Appx.0263.

⁸¹ Appx.0272.

Outrage was based on findings regarding wrongful termination, a claim which was dismissed by the Court,”⁸² warranting a new trial on the Outrage claim.⁸³ However, the Circuit Court declined to grant a new trial or otherwise disturb the jury’s verdict as to the FMLA notice claim (Count III).⁸⁴

Respondent submitted a proposed order on Count III, to which Fairmont Tool objected.⁸⁵ To further clarify its ruling, the Circuit Court issued a letter ruling on August 1, 2018⁸⁶ and entered an Order Denying Defendant’s Rule 50(b) Motion As To Count III on October 5, 2018, confirming that the Amended Judgment Order entered February 27, 2018, was void, re-issuing findings as to the FMLA notice claim (Count III) and directing that no judgment order would be issued concerning the jury’s verdict as to Count III until after the retrial of the Tort of Outrage claim (Count IV) and not until further Order of the court.⁸⁷

On September 10, 2018, Fairmont Tool filed a Rule 56 motion as to the Tort of Outrage claim,⁸⁸ in which Fairmont Tool noted, in part, that FMLA remedies are “tailored to the harm suffered” and statutorily limited.⁸⁹ Instead of proceeding to the retrial of the Outrage claim, Respondent submitted a proposed Order Dismissing Tort of Outrage Complaint and thereby indicated his intent to voluntarily dismiss Count IV (Tort of Outrage), with prejudice, which was entered by the Circuit Court before expiration of the five (5) day period for objections set forth in

⁸² Appx.0273.

⁸³ Appx.0274.

⁸⁴ Appx.0274-75.

⁸⁵ Appx.0279.

⁸⁶ Appx.0289.

⁸⁷ Appx.0321-22.

⁸⁸ Appx.0291.

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