## FILE COPY

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

T VURGINIA

EDYTHE NASH GAISER, CLERK SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRIGINIA

Fairmont Tool, Inc.
Defendant Below, Petitioner

vs.) No. 20-1042

Norvel Louis Opyoke, Plaintiff Below, Respondent

# DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

(An appeal from a final order of the Circuit Court of Marion County Civil Action No. 15-C-252.)

### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Karl Kolenich, Esq. (12446)
Klie Law Offices, PLLC
85 W. Main Street
Buckhannon, WV 26201
(304) 472-5007
Facsimile: 304-472-1126
karl@klielawoffices.com
Counsel for Respondent

####

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

#### II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner has continually attempted to take multiple bites from the apple by pursuing numerous post-trial motions, with many of these motions being filed untimely. The Circuit Court entered judgment on the jury's verdict on August 16, 2017. Petitioner then filed "Defendant's Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law or, In the Alternative, For a New Trial" on August 25, 2017. On February 27, 2018, the Circuit Court entered "Order Denying in Part and Granting in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Appx.0412

<sup>35</sup> Appx.0413-0419

<sup>36</sup> Appx. 0418

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Appx.0420-0444

<sup>38</sup> Appx.0457

Part Defendant's Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law and Alternative Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law". In this Order, the Circuit Court opined that there was legally sufficient evidence presented on which a reasonable jury could find that Petitioner failed to notify Respondent of his eligibility to take FMLA leave and the failures of the Petitioner to provide such information and the actions or inactions leading thereto was of such an "extreme and outrageous" nature to warrant recovery under the tort of outrage.

On February 27, 2018, the Circuit Court also entered "Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Prejudgment Interest, Liquidated Damages, Reasonable Attorney Fees, and Litigation Costs, In Part", "Order Granting Defendant's Motion to Amend Judgment Order August 16, 2017", and "Amended Judgment Order". Petitioner did not file any objections to either of these orders, nor did they file any further motions until March 13, 2018. Rule 59 requires that objections to a judgment that has been entered must be filed within ten (10) days.

On March 13, 2018, more than ten (10) days after the entry of the "Amended Judgment Order", Petitioner filed "Defendant's Motion to Alter or Amend the Court's Amended Judgment Order and Defendant's Motion for a New Trial and Alternative Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law". Not only was this motion not timely filed, but Petitioner was simply trying to take another bite out of the apple by making another motion with the same arguments made in the August 25, 2017 motion. The Circuit Court had already properly addressed all of Petitioner's assignments of error and had ruled accordingly. As no objections to the February 27, 2018 Orders by the Circuit Court were timely filed by Petitioner, the record was not preserved for Petitioner to now bring this appeal.

Further, Petitioner has alleged multiple assignments of error related to Respondent's Tort of Outrage claim. These assignments of error are moot, as the Circuit Court granted Petitioner's

motion for a new trial on Respondent's Tort of Outrage claim and this claim was later dismissed. Further, when Petitioner filed a motion requesting relief from the order dismissing the Tort of Outrage claim, the Circuit Court also granted that. Petitioner cannot allege that the Tort of Outrage claim has caused prejudice because any jury award related to the Tort of Outrage claim has been removed from the December 2, 2020 "Amended Judgment Order".

#### III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the brief and record on appeal.

The decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument, and the case is appropriate for a memorandum decision.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The denial of Petitioner's motion for summary judgment was not a decision on the issues themselves, but rather a finding that there was a genuine issue of fact to be tried.<sup>39</sup> An order denying a motion for summary judgment is merely interlocutory, leaves the case pending for trial, and is not appealable except in special instances in which an interlocutory order is appealable.<sup>40</sup> In this matter, the denial of the motion for summary judgment is not a ruling that is properly reviewable.

Regarding Petitioner's renewed motion for judgment as a matter of law under Rule 50(b), the task of this Court is not to review the facts to determine how it would have on the evidence presented, but rather to determine whether the evidence was such that a reasonable trier of fact

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Aetna Casualty & Sur. Co. v. Federal Ins. Co., 148 W. Va. 160, 172 (1963).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Syl. Pt. 8 Aetna Casualty & Sur. Co. v. Federal Ins. Co., 148 W. Va. 160 (1963).

might have reached the decision below.<sup>41</sup> When considering a ruling on a Rule 50(b) motion after trial, the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.<sup>42</sup>

It is not the Circuit Court's role to substitute its credibility judgments for those of the jury.<sup>43</sup> The Circuit Court, in determining whether there was enough evidence to support the jury's verdict, should (1) consider the evidence most favorable to the prevailing party; (2) assume that all conflicts in the evidence were resolved by the jury in favor of the prevailing party; (3) assume as proved all facts which the prevailing party's evidence tends to prove; and (4) give to the prevailing party the benefit of all favorable inferences which reasonably may be drawn from the facts proved.<sup>44</sup>

The issue of whether Respondent can maintain a claim for Tort of Outrage with separate damages for annoyance and inconvenience relative to an underlying claim of FMLA notice violation is moot, as the Tort of Outrage claim has been dismissed, and the Court does not ordinarily decide moot questions.<sup>45</sup>

# B. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR BY DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTIONS FOR JUDGMENT AS TO RESPONDENT'S FMLA INTERFERENCE CLAIM.

On July 19, 2017, at the close of the Respondent's evidence, Petitioner moved the Circuit Court for judgment as a matter of law on Counts 2, 3, 4 and 6 of the Respondent's Complaint.<sup>46</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Syl. Pt. 2 Fredeking v. Tyler 224 W. Va. 1 (2009)

<sup>42</sup> ld.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Fredeking v. Tyler 224 W. Va. at 6 (2009)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Syl. Pt. 2 *Fredeking v. Tyler* 224 W. Va. 1 (2009) (quoting Syl. Pt. 5 *Orr v. Crowder*, 173 W. Va. 335, 31`5 S.E.2d 593 (1983)).

<sup>45</sup> Syl. Pt. 1 Velogol v. City of Weirton, 212 W. Va. 687 (2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Appx.0183-0197

The Circuit Court granted the motion as to Counts 2 and 6 and denied the motion as Counts 3 and 4 without prejudice to its renewal at the close of all the evidence.<sup>47</sup> On July 20, 2017, at the close of all of the evidence in the trial of this case, Petitioner again moved for judgment as a matter of law as to Counts 3 and 4 of Respondent's Complaint.<sup>48</sup> The Circuit Court took the motion under advisement and submitted the matter to the jury.<sup>49</sup>

After the Circuit Court entered the "Judgment Order" on August 16, 2017, Petitioner filed "Defendant's Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law or, In the Alternative, For a New Trial" on August 25, 2017. This motion was properly filed within the ten (10) day time limitation set forth in the August 16, 2017 Order.

After hearing arguments of the parties on October 31, 2017, the Circuit Court entered "Order Denying In Part and Granting Defendant's Motion For Judgment as a Matter of Law and Alternative Request for a New Trial" on February 27, 2018. As stated above, the Circuit Court opined that, based upon the evidence presented at trial on the issues of FMLA interference and tort of outrage, there was legally sufficient evidence presented on which a reasonable jury could find that Petitioner failed to notify Respondent of his eligibility to take FMLA leave and that the failures of Petitioner to provide such information and the actions or inactions leading thereto were of such an "extreme and outrageous" nature to warrant recovery under the tort of outrage. In that order, the Circuit Court considered the evidence most favorable to the Respondent, who was the prevailing party. The Circuit Court also noted in the order that, while conflicting testimony was presented, the fact is that a reasonable jury clearly relied on the testimony of the

<sup>47</sup> Appx.0201

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Appx.0201

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Appx.0201

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Appx.0215

Respondent and that which corroborated his claims, so that judgment as a matter of law for Petitioner was not appropriate.<sup>51</sup>

Petitioner continued to attempt more bites at the apple on these claims when they untimely filed "Defendant's Motion to Alter or Amend the Amended Judgment Order and Defendant's Motion for a New Trial and Alternative Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law" on March 13, 2018. The arguments made by Petitioner in that motion were simply a second attempt at post-trial relief, which is impermissible. Petitioner had retained new counsel at this time, but that was not sufficient grounds to reargue its motions for remitter and judgment as a matter of law and that motion should have been denied on procedural grounds alone. Further, all of Petitioner's post-trial motions after this point should have been denied as Petitioner did not timely file any objections to the February 27, 2018 orders.

Petitioner also puts forth an argument regarding Respondent's lost wage calculation exhibit and states that the calculations may have been relevant to a valid claim for wrongful discharge, but that Respondent was not legally entitled to the amounts contained in the lost wage calculation as damages for the FMLA interference claim. First, at trial, Petitioner did not preserve this objection. Specifically, Petitioner stated that they had no objection to that exhibit, except for the fact that it referenced the date of termination and that the document stated that the total did not include an estimate for any overtime due to the fact that he was laid off and wouldn't be entitled to any damages.<sup>52</sup> There was no objection to this document being used in relation to the FMLA interference claim. Furthermore, the section of the FMLA that outlines damages for interferences explains that employers are liable for damages in the amount of any

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Appx.0219

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Appx. Vol. II, p. 241

wages, salary, employment benefits, or other compensation denied or lost to such employee by reason of the violation.<sup>53</sup>

C. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR BY PERMITTING RESPONDENT'S WRONGFUL DISCHARGE AND TORT OF OUTRAGE CLAIMS TO BE PRESENTED AND ARGUED TO THE JURY, AND SUCH PRESENTATION DID NOT RESULT IN UNFAIR PREJUDICE AGAINST PETITIONER. FURTHER, THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING PETITIONER'S POST-TRIAL MOTION FOR RELIEF.

Petitioner's arguments related to the tort of outrage claims are moot, as that claim as been dismissed. The "Amended Judgment Order" entered December 2, 2020 does not include any damages for the wrongful discharge or tort of outrage claims. Any presentation on these claims to the jury cannot have resulted in unfair prejudice against the Petitioner as the only jury award that still stands in this matter is the award for the FMLA violation.

Petitioner has not provided any evidence that the jury was improperly influenced by sympathy, or that Petitioner was unfairly prejudiced, but has repeatedly sought to overturn the jury's verdict on Respondent's FMLA claims which were supported by Respondent's testimony, as well as the testimony of his supervisor Mr. Moyers.

Further, the Circuit Court did grant Petitioner's post-trial motion for relief by granting the "Defendant's Motion for a New Trial". <sup>55</sup> Petitioner has no basis for this assignment of error when the Circuit Court did in fact grant the Petitioner's Motion for a New Trial and the Tort of Outrage claim has since been dismissed and no jury award regarding the wrongful discharge or tort of outrage claims remain.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> See Dotson v. Pfizer, 558 F.3d 284 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Appx.0457

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Appx.0259

# D. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR BY DENYING PETITIONER'S POST-TRIAL MOTION FOR RELIEF AFTER ACKNOWLEDGING THE PREJUDICIAL EFFECT OF THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS AS TO RESPONDENT'S TORT OF OUTRAGE CLAIM.

Petitioner has made a claim that the Circuit Court's error in denying their pre-verdict motions was compounded by the subsequent instructional errors. In support of this argument, Petitioner makes a claim and cites to case law that were not included in the motions made at the trial court level and were not a part of the record as decided by the Circuit Court.

Further, as stated above, Petitioner cannot be prejudiced by jury instructions related to the Tort of Outrage claim when the Circuit Court granted the Petitioner a new trial and subsequently the Tort of Outrage claim was dismissed. The "Amended Judgment Order" entered December 2, 2020 did not contain the amounts the jury awarded for the Tort of Outrage claim, as it was dismissed, and this issue is not moot.

E. ALTERNATIVELY, THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR BY DENYING PETITIONER'S POST-TRIAL MOTION FOR RELIEF AS THERE WAS A LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENTIARY BASIS FOR A REASONABLE JURY TO FIND FOR RESPONDENT ON HIS FMLA CLAIM AND THE VERDICT WAS NOT THE PRODUCT OF PLAIN AND UNFAIR PREJUDICE.

29 U.S.C § 2615(a)(1) states that it is "unlawful for any employer to interfere with, restrain, or deny exercise of or attempt to exercise, any right provided under this subchapter." This Court has previously acknowledges that to state a claim of interference with FMLA rights, the employee must establish that "(1) [he] was an eligible employee, (2) the defendant was an employer as defined under the FMLA, (3) [he] was entitled to leave under the FMLA, (4) [he]

gave the employer notice of [his] intention to take leave, and (5) the employer denied the employee FMLA benefits to which [he] was entitled.<sup>56</sup>

Petitioner claims that Respondent only failed on the last element, that Petitioner denied the employee FMLA benefits to which he was entitled, and that Petitioner was entitled to judgment as a matter of law due to Respondent's failure to establish that element. However, as appropriately decided by the Circuit Court, this was a question for the jury to decide. Petitioner has provided no authority to show that the jury was not entitled to make a finding regarding whether the Petitioner denied the Respondent FMLA benefits to which he was entitled.

As put forth by Petitioner in their brief, when an FMLA interference claim is premised on a technical violation of the FMLA, a plaintiff must show that the employer's failure to provide notice resulted in an impairment of his rights and resulted in prejudice. Genuine issues of material fact exist as to whether Respondent suffered prejudice as a result of the interference. Therefore, this was an appropriate question for the jury and could not be properly decided by a judgment as a matter of law.

It is not the Circuit Court's role to substitute its credibility judgments for those of the jury.<sup>57</sup> The Circuit Court, in determining whether there was enough evidence to support the jury's verdict, should (1) consider the evidence most favorable to the prevailing party; (2) assume that all conflicts in the evidence were resolved by the jury in favor of the prevailing party; (3) assume as proved all facts which the prevailing party's evidence tends to prove; and

١.

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